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Chapter 1 Introduction to the Internet

Most Americans have at least heard of, if not experienced, the
Internet. Millions of people use the Internet every day to work,
shop, and research a dizzying array of topics. But what exactly is
the Internet?

First consider the computer on your desk. If your office is like most
offices, your computer is most likely connected to the other
computers in your office through a cable that attaches to the back
of your computer. If so, your computer is part of a network, often
called a local area network (LAN).

If your company has branch offices, each with their own local area
networks, you may also be part of a wide area network (WAN). A
wide area network is simply two or more geographically distant
local area networks connected together.

The Internet itself began in such a way. In the late 1960s, a handful
of research universities participated in a Defense Department
project to connect computers at distant campuses. Once the project
successfully connected individual computers at the distant
campuses, it wasn't long before the project's reach expanded to
include entire computer networks on each campus.

Because the resulting "network of networks" allows
communication between networks, it is commonly referred to as an
"inter-network." As more and more campuses and organizations
began connecting to this network, a very large "inter-network"
began to emerge. This "inter-network" became so large, in fact,
that it is now simply referred to as "the Internet."

Physically connecting computers and networks is only part of the
story, however, because the real magic of the Internet is the ease
with which information is transferred from computer to computer.
To get computers to talk with each other coherently, a suite of
"protocols" was developed for use on the Internet. In the
networking world, a protocol is basically a set of rules that must be
followed in order for two or more computers to communicate. You
may have heard of "TCP/IP", which stands for "Transmission
Control Protocol/Internet Protocol". TCP/IP is the set of protocols
that make communication across the Internet possible.
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Here are some other acronyms you've probably seen: FTP, Telnet,
SMTP, and HTTP. These are important Internet protocols that
were written to facilitate specific types of communication, and they
are all part of the TCP/IP suite of protocols.

FTP, which stands for File Transfer Protocol, is designed to
facilitate the transfer of files from one computer to another. While
there are computer programs, such as WS_FTP, that are designed
specifically to transfer files across the Internet using this protocol,
both of the major web browsers, MS Internet Explorer and
Netscape Navigator, now support this protocol. 

Telnet, which stands for Terminal Emulation Protocol, is designed
to allow remote access to a computer via the Internet. Telnet is
usually used to "log on" to large computers that are shared by many
users. These large computers, some of which are called
"mainframe computers", often occupy entire rooms, and
accommodate many users simultaneously via a number of
"terminals" (basically a monitor and keyboard). Access to these
computers is gained by "logging on" at a such a terminal. What
Telnet allows one to do is "log on" to a computer from anywhere
on the Internet. In other words, it makes whatever computer you
are using "emulate" the "terminal" that you would normally use to
log on to that computer. Hence the name "Terminal Emulation
Protocol", or Telnet, for short.

SMTP, which stands for Simple Mail Transfer Protocol, takes the
electronic mail messages you send and ensures that they get to
where you want them to go. You may notice that on some email
programs, you have to configure the "SMTP server". This is
another name for your outgoing mail server, or in other words, the
computer that takes your email and dispatches it to its destination
address.

HTTP, which stands for Hypertext Transfer Protocol, is what
underlies the World Wide Web. You've probably heard of the term
"hypertext" before it refers to the ability to provide a direct link to
material stored somewhere else. If you've used the Internet at all,
you've no doubt seen underlined text that, when "clicked on", takes
you to another location on the Internet. This is hypertext, and very
few web pages are without it. In large part, hypertext is what makes
the Web "world wide", allowing quick and easy access to materials
stored all over the world. 
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Chapter 2 Search Engines

Search engines, like any other tool, are much more effective when
you learn to use them well. This chapter will introduce the basic
concepts involved with searching on the Internet, and provide some
general tips about how to use these tools.

A recent survey published in Nature magazine estimated that there
are over 800 million separate web pages on the Internet. Even the
most inclusive Internet search engine only provides access 160
million pages, which is why a good researcher is familiar with
more than one search engine.

Search Engine URL Pages Indexed
(millions)

Northern Light northernlight.com 160

Alta Vista altavista.com 150

Inktomi hotbot.com,
snap.com,

yahoo.com,
msn.com

110

Fast alltheweb.com 90

Google google.com 85

Infoseek infoseek.com 75

Excite excite.com 55

Lycos lycos.com 50

Figures as of July 1, 1999

According to the study, even using a combination of the top six
search engines will only increase coverage of the entire web to 40
percent.



© 1999 National Health Law Program Page 4

Basic Search Concepts and tips for searching

Most search engines have both "basic" search forms and
"advanced" search forms. The basic search forms are what you are
most likely to see on the search engine's home page. It usually
provides a handful of basic search tools, such as the use of AND,
OR and "phrase searching". Somewhere on that same home page,
you'll most probably find a link to an advanced search form that
allows more sophisticated search tools, such as the use of wildcard
characters and the ability to search for terms that are close to each
other (often called "proximity searches"). 

Natural Language Searches

Many search engines support something called "Natural Language"
searches. With these searches, you type in a question instead of
carefully chosen search terms. The search engine then tries to
answer your question by retrieving the appropriate pages. This is
an effective way of searching not only because the search engine
will usually return some relevant pages, but also because it helps
the person searching for information to articulate exactly what
information she seeks. Even if the information returned is not
adequate, the question is still useful in formulating a traditional
search strategy.

Using the Best Search Terms

The key to effective searching involves the ability to think of
appropriate search terms. Start with the general and move to the
specific. You'll be searching through hundreds of millions of web
pages, so you need to narrow your focus, but not by too much. 

Generally, it's better to use more than one term. While it's tempting
to quickly type in a one-word search and hope for the best, such
single term searches will usually return too many results. Using
multiple search terms, on the other hand, will narrow the focus of
your search and return fewer, more relevant, results. For example,
let's say you're searching for information on Medicaid waivers. On
the Northern Light search engine, a simple one-word search for
"waivers" returns over 282,000 links. If you also include the term
"Medicaid", the search will be narrowed down to less then 17,000
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links. This is obviously still more than you'll be able to look
through, but the important product of the narrowed focus is that
there is a much higher likelihood that these fewer pages contain the
information you seek.

To narrow the search even more, try to think of search terms that
are unique. The more unique your search terms are, the more likely
you are to weed out pages that have nothing to do with your topic.
For example, if you are looking for Medicaid waivers, you could
also include the terms "1115" and "1915" in your search (these are
the section numbers most often used to distinguish between the
two types of waivers). Again, on Northern Light, a search for
"Medicaid" and "waivers" and either of the terms "1115" and
"1915" retrieves 2,689 pages, while a search that requires all four
terms narrows it down to about 500 pages.

It's also helpful to think of some synonyms for the search terms you
are using. Is it possible that what you are searching for goes by any
other names?  

There is a danger, however, of narrowing your search too much.
The best strategy is to let your natural language question guide
your choice of words. If you are searching for general information
about Medicaid waivers, then you probably don't want to narrow
your search down to pages that must contain both the terms "1115"
and "1915" because you'll miss pages that discuss only one of the
types.

Using the Right Search Tools

While no two search engines function identically, most are similar
enough that a few basic rules apply almost universally. The basic
tool set comprises a few Boolean operators (AND, OR and NOT)
and quotation marks ("").

The AND Operator

If you're searching for two or more keywords, you should use the
"AND" operator. Almost all search engines allow the use of the
shorthand notation "+" for the "AND" operator. Place the "+" in
front of any word or phrase that must be included. (i.e. +medicaid
+children).
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Some search engines require that you spell out the word "and" or
"AND", and among these some require that you use the all capitals
version "AND". If you do spell out this operator, the best strategy
is to always use the "all caps" version. 

The OR Operator

If you need to cast a broader net, use the OR operator. This will
retrieve pages that contain any one of your search terms. This is
useful if there are alternative ways of describing a topic. A good
example would be searching for information about
ombudsprograms. Unfortunately, the term is not universally used
to describe programs that help consumers resolve problems, so a
search for "ombudsprograms AND health" may not get you all the
information you want. You may want to use the OR operator to
include the terms "consumer advocate" and "consumer assistance",
so your search would look like this:

+ombudsprograms OR "consumer advocate" OR "consumer
assistance" +health

The NOT Operator

Sometimes a search term you use will also be associated with a
different topic. To exclude pages that aren't related to your search,
use the NOT operator. Most search engines allow the use of the "-"
sign as short-hand for the NOT operator. For example, if you are
researching immigrant health and want information on an alien's
right to health care, your search should probably include the terms
-UFO and  abduction. 

Quotation Marks

Use quotation marks for phrases. If you're searching for a phrase
like "Medicaid managed care", use double quotation marks ("") to
distinguish it from a search for any of those three words. 
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Advanced Search Tools

Each of the major search engines also includes the ability to
perform advanced searches. These usually involve concepts like
wildcards, proximity searches, and searches for specific URLs.
Check the individual search engines for details on how to perform
these types of searches, links to which are usually labeled
"advanced search" or "power search".
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Chapter 3 E-mail and Mailing Lists

E-mail was one of the very first uses of the Internet, and it
continues to account for a large part of Internet traffic.
Understanding how e-mail works will make using it a lot easier.

How to Recognize an E-mail Address

Every e-mail address follows the pattern: user@domain_name. The
domain_name represents the name of the computer you're sending
the e-mail to, while the user represents the user's account name for
that computer. For example, mail sent to cheng@healthlaw.org is
addressed to my user account, "cheng", on the computer named
healthlaw.org. 

How to Get an E-mail Account

Before you can receive e-mail, you need two things: an Internet e-
mail account and the appropriate software to read it. There are
many ways to get an e-mail account:
• Through work. Many companies and organizations provide e-

mail for their employees. Keep in mind, however, that if you do
have a work e-mail account, some recent court rulings have
held that your employer has the right to read your e-mail.

• Through school. If you are a student, faculty or staff member at
a college, you can often get an e-mail account on your school's
computer system.

• From your Internet Service Provider (ISP). If you use an ISP
for your Internet access, your monthly fee most likely includes
one or more e-mail accounts.

• From an online e-mail service. Many websites offer free
web-based e-mail accounts. For example, Yahoo!, Hotmail,
and Excite all offer free e-mail accounts

You'll also need some software to read your e-mail. Popular e-mail
programs include Microsoft Outlook Express, Eudora Light,
Netscape Messenger, and Pegasus. Each has its own set of
strengths and weaknesses, and all are available for free. 
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You won't use these programs, however, if you use America
Online or a web-based e-mail system. For AOL, you use AOL's
proprietary software to read your e-mail. For web-based e-mail,
you simply use your web browser to read your e-mail.

You should be aware, however, of a trend toward web-based e-
mail. Most notably, America Online subscribers can now access
their e-mail via the web, without using AOL software. Other ISPs
that offer e-mail accounts are also moving toward a web-based
system.

How to Get Your E-mail Messages

No matter what e-mail provider you use, the basic concept behind
e-mail is the same. Everyone that uses e-mail has three things: (1)
an e-mail address; (2) an outgoing mail server, sometimes called an
SMTP server; and (3) an incoming mail server, sometimes called a
POP3 server.

Your outgoing mail server is what takes over after you hit the
"send" button in your e-mail program. It delivers your e-mail for
you. Your incoming mail server acts as your local post office (in
fact, POP3 stands for Post Office Protocol 3) and receives all of
your incoming mail for you. Using your desktop computer and
your e-mail software, you then connect to the incoming mail server
via the Internet or via your local area network, and then download
your e-mail to your computer. You can then read, respond to and
delete your e-mail messages.

When you download messages from the server, what you are doing
is making a copy of what was on the server and transferring that
copy to your computer. This means that there are now two copies
of your e-mail: one copy on the server, and one on your desktop
computer. To avoid this situation, most e-mail programs will
automatically delete the mail from the server once you download it
to your computer. When configuring your e-mail program you may
notice a setting labeled "leave mail on server" or "delete mail on
server". You'll want to configure your program to delete the mail
on the server (or NOT to leave mail on the server), because leaving
a copy of your e-mail on the server will waste space on the e-mail
server and slow down the process of downloading e-mail.
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Mailing Lists

One of the great features of e-mail is that you can easily send the
same message to many people. Consider a group of people working
on a project. The process of sending e-mail to the entire group is as
simple as entering everyone's e-mail address in the "to:" field.
Many e-mail programs even allow you to create "group addresses"
so that you need only enter the group's name in the "to:" field to
send e-mail to the entire group. You could even share this group
address with everyone in the group to spare them from typing in all
those e-mail addresses.

While this seems to be an efficient system, it becomes less so when
people enter or leave the group. Because the group address is
stored locally on each person's computer, everyone in the group
would have to edit his or her group address every time a change is
made to the group.

A better solution involves removing the administration of the
group address away from the desktop computer, and centralizing
administration of the group address so that any change would only
have to be made once. This is the concept behind e-mail "mailing
lists", often referred to as "listservs". The three main software
programs that are used for these mailing lists are "listserv",
"listproc" and "majordomo". They all do essentially the same thing:
manage a list of e-mail addresses that can be accessed via one
group e-mail address.

There are thousands of active mailing lists on the Internet used to
discuss a wide range of topics. There are mailing list directories on
the web, including www.liszt.com and www.egroups.com. There is
also a list of law-related mailing lists maintained by Lyonette
Louis-Jacques at the University of Chicago:
http://www.lib.uchicago.edu/~llou/lawlists/info.html. 

Some lists are used for discussion purposes, where anyone on the
list is able to broadcast e-mail to everyone on the list. Other lists
are used only for announcements and are configured so that only
one person, usually the host, can send messages to the list.
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Chapter 4 Internet Resources for Health Advocates

Introduction

The remainder of this guide will loosely follow the framework of
the NHeLP website (www.healthlaw.org). Resources for selected
topic areas will be discussed, and references to helpful websites
will be given. These lists are by no means comprehensive, but
rather are meant only to help a new advocate get started on the
Internet. For a more complete and up-to-date list of links to
resources, please check the NHeLP website.

Legal Research

Legal research on the Internet has come a long way in the past few
years. There are many freely available legal resources online, but to
conduct a comprehensive legal search, you'll still need to subscribe
to a premium service like WestLaw or Lexis, or actually go to a
law library. Links to all websites discussed in this section can be
found at http://www.healthlaw.org/research.shtml

There are a number of websites that are designed to assist people
conducting legal research on the Internet. Look under the Research
links section of the NHeLP website for these sites.

Case Law

The number of opinions online grows daily, and US Supreme
Court decisions dating back to 1893 are now available online at
www.findlaw.com. All of the federal circuit courts have at least a
few years of decisions online, and many federal district court
opinions are also available. The availability of state court decisions
is spotty, but a number of states are beginning to make judicial
opinions available. If you are serious about finding case law online,
you'll need to subscribe to Lexis or WestLaw, both of which are
available via the Internet.
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Statutes and Regulations

Federal statutes and regulations are available online, including the
U.S. Constitution, the U.S. Code, the Code of Federal Regulations,
and the Federal Register. Availability of state statutes varies from
state to state. See websites listed below for links.

Law and Government "Web Portals"

A "web portal" is a web site that aspires to be the first place a user
goes when searching for information on the Internet. Generally,
these web sites provide free services and generate revenues by
selling ad space on their web pages.

Cornell Legal Information Institute
http://www.law.cornell.edu
One of the first Legal Research sites on the Internet, Cornell Law
School's Legal Information Institute has an extremely large
collection of law-related resources and links. The site includes
links to case law, statutes and regulations at both the federal and
state levels. The user-friendly interface allows visitors to browse by
topics or to search the site with a fast and easy-to-use search
engine. This site does not contain advertising.

Findlaw.com
http://www.findlaw.com
This site uses a Yahoo!-like home page that allows a visitor to
browse by topic or to search the site using keywords. Findlaw
provides an impressive collection of case law and boasts free
access to US Supreme Court decisions dating back to 1893. The
site's news page tracks recent legal news on a wide array of topics
(http://legalnews.findlaw.com/). Findlaw's Health Law topic page
http://www.findlaw.com/01topics/19health/index.html) holds
dozens of links to useful health law resources on the Internet.

Hieros Gamos
http://www.hg.org/hg.html
According to this website, "Hieros Gamos" means the
harmonization of seeming opposites. The "opposites" that this
website seeks to harmonize are electronic and written information.
To do this, the creators of this website have amassed an index of
over 100,000 web pages dealing with law and government, which
can be accessed via either keyword search or browsing by topic.



© 1999 National Health Law Program Page 13

The Internet Law Library
http://law.house.gov/1.htm
This site was discontinued on May 28, 1999. Originally developed
by the US House of Representatives in 1994, it included the US
Code, other federal laws, state and territorial laws, as well as
treaties and international law. The US Code was transferred to the
Office of the Law Revision Counsel (http://uscode.house.gov/),
while the rest of the collection was made available to other sites.

Law Library Resource Exchange
http://www.llrx.com/
This site isn't a "web portal" site, but is as useful as one. It bills
itself as a "webzine" that is updated on the 1st and 15th of every
month with articles of interest to legal researchers. This site is an
excellent resource for those trying to conduct legal research on the
Internet.

The Virtual Chase 
http://www.virtualchase.com/index.shtml
This site was created by a law librarian with extensive experience
in online research. The site contains links to hundreds of legal
research resources on the Internet. The site's Annotated Guide to
Resources for Legal Professionals is particularly useful.

Health Law Sites
The Health Law Resource
http://www.netreach.net/~wmanning/
This website was created by an attorney specializing in health care
law. The focus of the website is on provider transactions and
legislation affecting health care businesses. Topic pages on this
website include privacy, Medicare/Medicaid, and fraud & abuse.

Health Hippo
http://hippo.findlaw.com/
Health Hippo is a collection of policy and regulatory materials
related to health care. This site has an extensive collection of
resources on a vast array of health topics.

Health Care Law Research on the Internet
http://www.law.ab.umd.edu/marshall/health.htm
This site was created by the Thurgood Marshall Law Library at the
University of Maryland School of Law. It contains a short list of
links to various topics in health law.
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St. Louis University Center for Health Law Studies Research
http://lawlib.slu.edu/healthcenter/research/research_index.htm
The Health Law Research Gateway is a very useful website with
numerous links to health law resources on the web. The site also
has a short, but informative, primer on researching health law on
the web.

Other Legal Research Resources

Government Printing Office
http://www.access.gpo.gov/
The Government Printing Office website provides access to a wide
array of federal government documents, including the Code of
Federal Regulations, the Federal Register, and Government
Accounting Office (GAO) reports. This very large database of
federal documents is also available via the Federal Depository
Library Gateways, a list of which can be accessed at
http://www.access.gpo.gov/su_docs/aces/aaces004.html

Federal Register Daily Table of Contents
There are a number of sites on the Internet that provide access to
the Federal Register, including the GPO website and the GPO
Library Gateways (described above). At the GPO website you can
also view the Daily Table of Contents in an easy to read format that
provides links to the actual documents in text or Adobe Acrobat
format. If you prefer receiving the Table of Contents every day via
e-mail, the Environmental Protection Agency offers an e-mail
mailing list that will deliver the Table of Contents in a less-easy-to-
read text-only format (http://www.epa.gov/fedrgstr/subscribe.htm).

GAO Reports
http://www.gao.gov/
If you are looking for recent GAO reports, the Government
Accounting Office website offers GAO reports and testimony
released in the last three months. The website also offers a mailing
list for the GAO Daybook, which is a daily list of newly released
and newly available GAO reports and testimony. For older reports,
you’ll have to go to GPO Access (described above).
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Children's Health
http://www.healthlaw.org/children.shtml

American Academy of Pediatrics
http://www.aap.org
This pediatrician organization has an impressive collection of
resources on its website. Its "Advocacy" section contains links to
materials on the organization's federal and state advocacy efforts,
its current campaigns and programs, and its position papers and
policy statements. Its "Research" section contains very useful
reports from its own Division of Health Policy Research.

Children's Defense Fund
http://www.childrensdefense.org/
The Children's Defense Fund is one of the most influential child
advocacy organizations in the country, and their website does not
disappoint. Their "News and Reports" section contains facts and
figures, reports, and backgrounders. The site's "Healthy Start"
section contains dozens of useful articles and statistics on
children's health, including information about uninsured children
and the Children's Health Insurance Program.  

Children Now
http://www.childrennow.org/
Children Now advocates for children through public education
strategies, outreach and policy analysis. Their children's health
page, accessible from the home page, has sections on health
insurance, managed care and immunization efforts.

Child Welfare League of America
http://www.cwla.org/
CWLA claims to be the oldest and largest children's advocacy
organization. While CWLA’s focus is larger than children's health,
the organization does have a program in health care and a Managed
Care Institute.

Family Voices
http://www.familyvoices.org/
Families and Friends Speaking on Behalf of Children with Special
Health Care Needs. Visitors to this well-designed website can read
about Family Voices' Projects and Policy initiatives, check the
latest news headlines, browse the publications list, or take
advantage of the extensive state-by-state resource links.
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Institute for Child Health Policy
http://www.ichp.edu/
This institute is part of Florida's State University System focuses
on improving the health status of infants and children by
integrating the resources of the state's universities to assist in
policy design. The website has sections on children with special
health needs, child health systems in Florida, and research on
health care for children and youth.

National Center for Youth Law
http://www.youthlaw.org/
The National Center for Youth Law is "a private, non-profit law
office serving the legal needs of children and their families." Its
section on Child and Adolescent Health contains excellent original
analyses.

The Alliance To End Childhood Lead Poisoning
http://www.aeclp.org/
The Alliance to End Childhood Lead Poisoning is a national,
non-profit public interest organization dedicated exclusively to
preventing childhood lead poisoning. This is the place to start if
you are researching childhood lead poisoning issues.

National Maternal and Child Health Clearinghouse
http://www.nmchc.org/
The Clearinghouse is funded by the Health Resources and Services
Administration (HRSA), Maternal and Child Bureau (MCHB), a
branch of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
(HHS). With dozens of full-text publications regarding maternal
and child health, and over five hundred items in the catalog
available for ordering, this website is an impressive resource for
researchers.

HCFA's Children's Health Insurance Program Website
http://www.hcfa.gov/init/children.htm
The Health Care Financing Administration is the federal agency
charged with administering the CHIP program, and this website
contains extensive informational materials regarding this program.
The site includes information about state plan submissions, letters
from HCFA to the states regarding the program, notices regarding
reserved CHIP allotments, and CHIP-related White House and
Administration information.
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Consumer Resources
http://www.healthlaw.org/consumer.shtml
Consumer health information is one of the fastest growing topics
on the Internet, and some public health experts are concerned that
much of the information available online is inaccurate. It is
important to recognize that health information found on the
Internet may very well be incorrect. It is a good idea to always note
what the source of any information is, and to verify any
information found with a trusted source.

Consumer Health/Agency for Health Care Policy and Research
http://www.ahcpr.gov/consumer/
This government agency provides some useful consumer materials
on its website, including information on health insurance choices,
how to choose a health plan, insurance for children, Medline
access, personal and child health guides, a guide to quality health
care, and consumer versions of clinical practice guidelines listed by
condition.

Consumers Union Health Care Index
http://www.consunion.org/health/health.htm
This leading consumer organization's website has a health care
page that contains a number of useful articles. The articles are
divided into subsections dealing with health care affordability,
health care for children, managed care, health care reform,
conversions of nonprofit health systems to for-profit, medicare and
medical savings accounts.

healthfinder
http://www.healthfinder.gov/
Healthfinder is a free gateway to reliable consumer health and
human services information developed by the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services. Resources listed in healthfinder  are
intended to provide basic information on topics. More detailed
information is available from the primary information sources that
healthfinder lists.

Health Consumer Alliance
http://www.healthconsumer.org
The Health Consumer Alliance ("HCA") is a united effort of eight
California legal services and health policy agencies skilled and
experienced at addressing the health problems of low-income
consumers. Local legal services programs direct six Health
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Consumer Centers, each countywide in scope. HCA also includes 
the National Health Law Program and the Western Center on Law
and Poverty, an information resource for legal services programs in
California.

Health Insurance Information, Counseling and Assistance
(HIICAP)
http://hiicap.state.ny.us/
The New York State Health Insurance Information, Counseling and
Assistance Program (HIICAP) provides free, confidential, accurate
and unbiased health insurance information, counseling and
assistance. If you live in New York state, you'll find some very
useful articles on this information-rich website.

Med Help International
http://medhlp.netusa.net/
Med Help International is dedicated to helping patients find the
highest quality medical information in the world today. This
website seeks to "offer patients the tools necessary to make
informed treatment decisions within the short time lines dictated by
their illness or disease." Sponsors include the Henry Ford Health
System and Abbott Laboratories.

National Women's Health Information Center
http://www.4woman.gov/
The National Women's Health Information Center is a one-stop
gateway for women seeking health information.  NWHIC is a free
information and resource service on women's health issues
designed just for you, whether you're a consumer, a health care
professional, a researcher, an educator, or a student. Visitors can
search the site by topic, browse the frequently asked questions,
catch up on health news and special events, and access the online
dictionaries and journals.

Patient Advocacy Numbers
http://infonet.welch.jhu.edu/advocacy.html
A very long list of phone numbers and websites for patient
advocacy programs arranged by condition. Maintained by Johns
Hopkins University Medical Institutions Information Network.
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Immigrant Health
http://www.healthlaw.org/immigrant.shtml

DiversityRX
http://www.diversityrx.org
"Promoting language and cultural competence to improve the
quality of health care for minority, immigrant, and ethnically
diverse communities." This nicely designed website has sections
titled essentials, models & practices, policy, legal issues, and
networking.

National Immigration Law Center
http://www.nilc.org
The National Immigration Law Center (NILC) is a support center
whose mission is to protect and promote the rights of low income
immigrants and their family members. The website provides access
to community education materials, policy analyses, materials on
the public charge issue and other issues affecting immigrants’
access to health care.

Massachusetts Immigrant Health Access Coalition
http://hcfa.org/Immigrant/
"The Massachusetts Immigrant Health Access Coalition has a
growing membership of hospitals, health centers,
community-based organizations and individuals dedicated to
ensuring that all immigrants, refugees, and other persons with
limited-English proficiency have access to high-quality, affordable
health care."

New York Task Force On Immigrant Health
http://www.med.nyu.edu/NYTFIH/
"The New York Task Force on Immigrant Health (NYTFIH) was
established in 1990. The Task Force is dedicated to research,
policy development, training and education, program development
and implementation, technical assistance and information
dissemination on immigrant health issues."

Immigrant Policy Project at the National Conference of State
Legislatures
http://www.ncsl.org/statefed/ipphmpg.htm
This project was created to address the role of state and local
governments in the U.S. resettlement of refugees and immigrants.
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Managed Care
http://www.healthlaw.org/managedcare.shtml
While the topic of managed care is very broad, the National Health
Law Program is concerned mainly with how this phenomenon
affects the poor, the uninsured and the underinsured. 

The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation
http://www.kff.org/
This website boasts one of the most impressive collections of
documents pertaining to health care issues affecting the poor and
disadvantaged. There are dozens of publications on managed care
alone, many of which are available online. To access these articles,
go to the URL listed above and choose "managed care" from the
pop up list of topics.

Managed Care Central
http://www.familiesusa.org/managedcare/
This helpful clearinghouse, maintained by FamiliesUSA, is
updated regularly and contains links to articles on managed care
from the consumer's perspective. The site includes sections on
what consumers need to know, consumer protections, Medicaid
managed care, Medicare managed care, state information, and
resources for advocates.

Health Care Financing Administration Managed Care
Websites
http://www.hcfa.gov/medicare/mgdcar.htm
The Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA) is the federal
agency responsible for administration of the Medicaid and
Medicare programs. HCFA has posted a large number of
documents pertaining to the implementation of managed care in
these two programs. The site provides summary statistics of
enrollment levels and penetration rates, HCFA waiver guidelines
and quarterly reports, and other technical information useful to
advocates.

HIICAP Managed Care/HMOs Page
http://hiicap.state.ny.us/hmos/index.htm
The New York State Office for the Aging Health Insurance
Information, Counseling  & Assistance Program has a managed
care page filled with information for consumers considering
Medicare managed care in the state of New York. In particular, it
offers "A New Yorker's Guide to Medicare HMOs" on its website. 



© 1999 National Health Law Program Page 21

Medicaid
http://www.healthlaw.org/medicaid.shtml
Medicaid is a program funded jointly by state and federal
government that provides health care access to specific groups of
people living in poverty.

Health Care Financing Administration (HCFA)
http://www.hcfa.gov/medicaid/medicaid.htm
HCFA is the federal agency in charge of administering the
Medicaid program. Its website provides a significant amount of
information about this program. Divided into sections catering to
consumers and professionals, the website also features a search
function that allows searches on both the entire HCFA site and
specific collections of materials on Medicaid.

The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation 
http://www.kff.org/
This website offers an abundance of information on health care
issues affecting the poor, including information about the Medicaid
program. From the home page, choose the Medicaid option on the
navigation bar. This link leads to a page devoted to the Medicaid
program, and contains a well-written primer on the program.

Medicaid Clearinghouse
http://www.familiesusa.org/medicaid/
This website, created by the organization Families USA, strives to
be "Your one stop source of information on the Medicaid
program." The website's impressive collection of links to
Medicaid-related materials is organized by sections labeled federal
issues, state issues, child health expansion, resources, and
advocates' corner.

Medicaid Consumer Network of Massachusetts
http://207.221.53.125/medicaid
This nonprofit works to preserve the positive features and benefits
of the Massachusetts Medicaid program, known as MassHealth.
The site is organized into several categories, and includes both
educational materials and calls to action. There is information on
the basics of the MassHealth program, as well as information on
state and federal legislation affecting the Medicaid program.
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Murphy's Unofficial Medicaid Page
http://www.geocities.com/CapitolHill/5974/
This very useful website was created, apparently not in his official
capacity, by the Chief Policy Analyst for the Alabama State
Medicaid Agency. The website calls itself a "Resource Guide to
Medicaid" and boasts links to nearly fifty state Medicaid websites.

The Urban Institute
http://www.urban.org/socwelfare.htm#medicaid
The Urban Institute is, in their own words, "A Nonpartisan
Economic and Social Policy Research Organization." Their website
contains over thirty research documents that discuss the Medicaid
program. Most of the documents are available in both HTML and
Adobe Acrobat "pdf" format.
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Medicare
http://www.healthlaw.org/medicare.shtml
Medicare is federal health insurance program that provides health
insurance to people age 65 and over and those who have permanent
kidney failure and certain people with disabilities.

Official Medicare Website
http://www.medicare.gov/
This site is maintained by the Health Care Financing
Administration, which is the federal agency that administers the
Medicare and Medicaid programs. If you seek information about
Medicare, this is the place to start your search. The site contains an
extensive list of Medicare publications available for downloading.

AARP
http://www.aarp.org/
This organization, formerly known as the American Association of
Retired Persons, but now known only by its acronym, is dedicated
to "shaping and enriching the experience of aging for our members
and for all Americans." Membership is open to anyone over fifty
years of age. The website is very rich resource covering a wide
range of issues affecting the elderly. Documents on the site discuss
various health insurance programs, including Medicare and
Medicaid.

Consumers Union Medicare Page
http://www.consunion.org/health/i-medicare.htm
Consumers Union has a page dedicated to Medicare issues, with a
half-dozen or so articles on Medicare.

Center for Medicare Advocacy
http://www.medicareadvocacy.org/
The Center, provides legal advice, self-help materials, and
representation to the elders and people with disabilities who are
unfairly denied Medicare coverage. The website has a wealth of
information on Medicare topics including Medicare+choice,
Skilled Nursing Facilities, MediGap, Home Health, Hospice Care,
and Medicare Reform.
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Medicare Payment Advisory Commission (MedPAC)
http://www.medpac.gov/
The Medicare Payment Advisory Commission (MedPAC) is an
independent federal body that advises the U.S. Congress on issues
affecting the Medicare program. It was established by the Balanced
Budget Act of 1997 (P.L. 105-33), which merged the Prospective
Payment Assessment Commission (ProPAC) and the Physician
Payment Review Commission (PPRC).

National Senior Citizens Law Center
http://www.nsclc.org
The National Senior Citizens Law Center advocates nationwide to
promote the independence and well-being of low-income elderly
individuals. The Library section of the website contains dozens of
articles on issues affecting the elderly. Visitors can browse through
the extensive collection of articles by either subject area or date
posted. Article topics include Medicare, Medicaid, nursing homes
and long-term care.

The Commonwealth Fund Program on Medicare's Future
http://www.cmwf.org/publist/index.asp#future
This New York City-based private foundation supports research on
health and social issues. Its Program on Medicare's Future has
generated some very informative publications, some of which are
available online, and some of which can be ordered.

The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation Medicare Policy
Project
http://www.kff.org
According to Kaiser's website, "The Medicare Policy project
provides a framework for the Foundation's work related to the
Medicare program and health coverage for elderly and disabled
people." As with other areas on the Kaiser website, there is an
abundance of materials on Medicare policy. To access this part of
the site, choose the Medicare option from the navigation bar found
on the foundation's home page.
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Public Accountability
http://www.healthlaw.org/pubaccount.shtml
Advocates researching public accountability issues regarding
health care on the Internet will find that the major health care
accrediting organizations have extensive websites. 

President's Advisory Commission on Consumer Protection and
Quality in the Health Care Industry.
http://www.hcqualitycommission.gov/
The Advisory Commission on Consumer Protection and Quality in
the Health Care Industry was created by President Clinton to advise
the President on changes occurring in the health care system and to
make recommendations that ensure both health care quality and
consumer protection in the health care system. The committee
completed its work in March 1998, and the final report is available
for downloading at this site.

Foundation for Accountability (FACCT)
http://www.facct.org/
"FACCT creates tools that help people understand and use quality
information, develops consumer-focused quality measures,
supports public education about health care quality,
supports efforts to gather and provide quality information, and
encourages health policy to empower and inform consumers."

The American Accreditation HealthCare Commission/URAC
http://www.urac.org/
URAC is an accrediting body that establishes standards for the
managed care industry. Visitors to this site will find descriptions of
the accreditation process along with a list of all the
URAC-accredited organizations.

The Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare
Organizations
http://www.jcaho.org/
"The Joint Commission evaluates and accredits more than 18,000
health care organizations in the United States, including hospitals,
health care networks, managed care organizations, and health care
organizations that provide home care, long term care, behavioral
health care, laboratory, and ambulatory care services."
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National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA)
http://www.ncqa.org/
NCQA assesses and reports on the quality of managed care plans.
The site provides information about its accreditation process and
access to its Accreditation Status List.

Freedom of Information and Privacy at Health Care Financing
Administration
http://www.hcfa.gov/foip
The Freedom of Information Act, passed in 1966, mandates that all
federal government agencies make available any agency record
unless that records falls into certain categories outlined in the
statute. This website is the home of the office within HCFA that
administers the Freedom of Information Act for that agency.
Visitors can learn how to file a Freedom of Information Act
request.
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Racial/Cultural Issues
http://www.healthlaw.org/race.shtml
The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services has identified
significant disparities in both health status and health access
between whites and people of color in America. 

The Initiative to Eliminate Racial and Ethnic Disparities in
Health
http://raceandhealth.hhs.gov/
In 1998, the President set a goal to eliminate the disparities in six
areas of health status experienced by racial and ethnic minorities by
the year 2010. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
is leading the effort to eliminate disparities in Infant Mortality,
Cancer Screening and Management, Cardiovascular Disease,
Diabetes, HIV Infection, and Child and Adult Immunizations.

Minority Health Project
http://www.minority.unc.edu/
The Minority Health Project at the School of Public Health at the
University of North Carolina maintains two databases on minority
health information. The first, called The Minority Health Research
Catalog is an annotated bibliography of studies on minority health
issues. The second, called the Minority Health Database Catalog
contains information on existing data sets concerning minority
health issues.

Office of Minority Health Resource Center
http://www.omhrc.gov/ 
The Office of Minority Health, part of the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services, maintains this impressive website.
Nearly one hundred publications are available from the resource
center, many of which are also available online. Visitors can also
search the center's databases, including databases of minority
health organizations, community and career programs, and
abstracts of over 1400 publications.

DiversityRX
http://www.diversityrx.org
"Promoting language and cultural competence to improve the
quality of health care for minority, immigrant, and ethnically
diverse communities." This nicely designed website has sections
titled essentials, models & practices, policy, legal issues, and
networking.
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Race, Health Care and the Law
http://www.udayton.edu/~health/
Created by University of Dayton law professor Vernellia Randall,
this website "Explores the role of the law in improving the health
status of people-of-color and to assuring access to quality health
care. Includes statutes, cases, law review articles, essays, and other
documents.
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Reproductive Health
http://www.healthlaw.org/repro.shtml
The problem of lack of access to reproductive health care is
particularly acute for low-income people. Advocates researching
this important topic can turn to a number of excellent resources on
the Internet.

Alan Guttmacher Institute
http://www.agi-usa.org
The Alan Guttmacher Institute is dedicated to reproductive health
research, policy analysis and public education. The institute's
outstanding website contains an abundance of well written and
carefully researched materials. The site includes statistics, policy
papers and special reports on topics such as pregnancy and birth,
prevention and contraception, abortion, and sexually transmitted
diseases. 

ACLU Reproductive Freedom Project
http://www.aclu.org/issues/reproduct/hmrr.html
The American Civil Liberties Union Reproductive Freedom
Project uses litigation, advocacy and public education to uphold the
rights of individuals to decide freely whether or not to bear a child.
The site contains news updates, an "In Congress" section, ACLU
policy papers, and a resources section.

Center for Reproductive Law and Policy
http://www.crlp.org/
This nonprofit advocacy organization promotes women's
reproductive rights by engaging in litigation, policy analysis, legal
research, and public education. At the website, visitors can browse
through an extensive collection of publications, learn about the
organization's current initiatives, and read the center's recent press
releases and newsletter.

National Abortion and Reproductive Rights Action League
(NARAL)
http://www.naral.org/ 
Dedicated to promoting reproductive freedom for women and their
families, NARAL supports research and legal work, publishes
policy reports, mounts public education campaigns and provides
leadership training for grassroots activists. The NARAL website
includes sections on abortion and women's health, contraception
and education, facts and news about reproductive health, and
information about how to get involved.
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The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation Reproductive and
Sexual Health Page
http://www.kff.org/
Kaiser has several programs that address reproductive and sexual
health issues. Visitors can access many of the publications
produced by these programs by clicking on the Reproductive and
Sexual Health selection on Kaiser's home page.  Additionally,
Kaiser publishes the free Daily Reproductive Health Report, which
is also available on the website (http://report.kff.org/repro/)

Planned Parenthood Federation of America
http://www.plannedparenthood.org/
This organization is unique in that it provides reproductive health
services, conducts research on reproductive health issues,  and
advocates for public policies that guarantee the right to such
services. The website contains materials on birth control, sexual
health, political action, international family planning, abortion and
parenting.
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State and Regional Issues
http://www.healthlaw.org/state.shtml
Laws affecting access to health care can vary widely from state to
state. NHeLP’s State and Regional Issues web page comprises
links to various information sources that may assist advocates
searching for state-specific information.

National Conference of State Legislatures (NCSL)
http://www.ncsl.org
NCSL’s website offers a tremendous bounty of information on
state legislative matters concerning health. Its health page can be
found at http://www.ncsl.org/programs/health/health.htm. NCSL
also hosts the Forum for State Health Policy Leadership, the Health
Policy Tracking Service, and StateServ, all discussed below.

The Forum for State Health Policy Leadership
http://www.ncsl.org/programs/health/forum/index.htm 
This is a unit within NCSL “whose mission is to enhance the
capacity for informed decision-making and legislative leadership
regarding the financing, organization and delivery of health care
services to low income and vulnerable populations.”

Health Policy Tracking Service
http://www.hpts.org/
This service identifies, researches, monitors and reports on state
health legislation. This service is available free to members of the
National Conference of State Legislatures.

StateServ
http://stateserv.hpts.org/
This website calls itself “Your premiere source for state legislative
information, policy analysis and news on select issues.” These
issues include environmental health, adolescent health, the State
Children’s Health Insurance Program, and immigrant policy. 

National Academy for State Health Policy
http://www.nashp.org/
This organization conducts research on health care coverage for
state policy makers, focusing on five areas: Access for the
Uninsured; Family and Community Care; The Health Care
Marketplace; Long-term and Chronic Care; and Managed Care and
Purchasing Strategies.
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National Governors’ Association (NGA)
http://www.nga.org
The NGA website provides coverage of over 50 issues, including
many health issues. Key health topics include health insurance, the
CHIP program, maternal and child health, managed care, medicare,
and medical records privacy.

stateline.org
http://www.stateline.org
This site is operated by the Pew Center for the States, a research
organization run by the University of Richmond and funded by the
Pew Charitable Trusts. Staffed by journalists, the site is designed to
provide journalists, policy makers and concerned citizens with
information about state policy development. Healthcare is one of
the topics covered by the site, focusing on children’s health and the
right to die.

State Legislation on the Internet
http://www.publicintegrity.org/50States_LegisInfomain.html
This site was created by the Center for Public Integrity, a nonprofit
group whose mission is “to provide the American public with the
findings of its investigations and analyses of public service,
government accountability, and ethics-related issues.” The site has
links to legislative information for all 50 states.
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HIV/AIDS

Critical Path AIDS Project
http://www.critpath.org/
This project was founded by persons with AIDS, and provides a
information useful to a wide array of visitors, including
researchers, health care providers, treatment activists, and persons
with AIDS. The site’s topics include research, treatment, clinical
trials, prevention, alternative treatment and technical support.

The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation
www.kff.org
To access materials on HIV/AIDS, select “HIV/AIDS” from the
pop-up list of topics on the main page. Kaiser’s resources on
HIV/AIDS issues includes a daily HIV/AIDS report, policy
analyses, research reports, and fact sheets.

HIV Insite
http://hivinsite.ucsf.edu/
This site, hosted by the University of California, San Francisco,
serves as a gateway to HIV/AIDS information on prevention,
treatment, research and policy.

National Minority AIDS Council (NMAC)
www.nmac.org
NMAC works to develop “ leadership within communities of color
to address the challenge of HIV/AIDS.” NMAC’s activities include
policy advocacy, technical assistance, conferences, training and the
publication of newsletters, brochures and manuals. The NMAC
website offers a number of cutting edge features, including
regularly scheduled online meetings with HIV/AIDS experts, and
access to virtual conferences.

National Institutes of Health Office of AIDS Research
http://www.nih.gov/od/oar/
The Office of AIDS Research is “responsible for the scientific,
budgetary, legislative, and policy elements of the NIH AIDS
research program.”


